## **RECEIVED**

09-25-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Appeal No. 2017AP000866

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent

v.

BRADLY E. AMMANN

Defendant-Appellant

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING SUPPRESSION AND A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE GREEN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE THOMAS J. VALE PRESIDING.

## BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT, BRADLY E. AMMANN

Peter J Kind Attorney for Defendant-Appellant State Bar No. 1067954

Knoke, Ingebritsen & Kind Law Office 1904 10<sup>th</sup> Street P.O. Box 620 Monroe, WI 53566 (608) 325-7137 (T) / (608) 329-6610 (F) peter.kandi@tds.net

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

Issue #1: Did the arresting officer have reasonable suspicion to extend the traffic stop and perform field sobriety tests where: (a) Bradly Ammann was initially stopped for speeding (16-19 mph); (b) Mr. Ammann admitted he had consumed only one drink; and (c) the arresting officer, who conducted his traffic investigation at the passenger window, noticed the odor of alcohol, but testified it was likely coming from the passenger, Mr. Ammann's wife, who had had more to drink?

The trial court concluded that the officer had reasonable suspicion to extend the traffic stop and perform field sobriety tests.

<u>Issue #2</u>: Did the trial court use the correct legal standard and properly explain its decision when it determined the arresting officer could request Mr. Ammann take a preliminary breath test (PBT)?

In its oral decision, the trial court used the "reasonable suspicion" standard vice the "probable cause to believe" standard in determining the arresting officer could request the PBT. There was evidence presented indicating the field sobriety tests (FSTs) were not properly and reliably administered by the arresting officer. The court did not adequately explain how much evidentiary weight, if any, it gave to the FSTs.

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Bradly Ammann requests neither oral argument nor publication, because the briefs will adequately address the issues, and because the case can be decided on well settled law.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Bradly Ammann was initially pulled over for speeding. Subsequently, the traffic stop was extended by an OWI investigation, FSTs and a PBT. Mr. Ammann was arrested for operating a motor vehicle with prohibited alcohol concentration (4<sup>th</sup>) and charged with: count one operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated (4<sup>th</sup>), contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a); and count two, operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration of 0.060 (4<sup>th</sup>), contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(b). (3:2)

Mr. Ammann filed a motion to suppress evidence alleging: (a) the arresting officer did not have reasonable suspicion to extend the traffic stop or conduct FSTs; and (b) the arresting officer did not have probable cause to believe Mr. Ammann was operating while intoxicated or operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration prior to administering the PBT. (14:5) Mr. Ammann requested the trial court suppress all evidence obtained by the arresting officer after the traffic stop was impermissibly extended. (14:5-6; 49:57¹)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The record forwarded to the court of appeals includes some condensed transcripts, i.e. four pages of transcript per page. In this brief, the first number of a citation to a transcript references the actual forwarded record number of the document. The second number references the page number listed on the actual transcript.

A hearing was held on Mr. Ammann's suppression motion on April 21, 2016. (49:1) The trial court denied Mr. Ammann's motion to suppress in an oral ruling on May 25, 2016. (50:1, 9) The trial court also denied Mr. Ammann's subsequent motion for reconsideration on December 19, 2016. (51:22)

As part of a plea agreement, Mr. Ammann then entered a plea of no contest to count one, operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated (4<sup>th</sup>). Count two, operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration, was dismissed with prejudice. (51:26, 36) The trial court granted Mr. Ammann's request to stay execution of judgment and informed Mr. Ammann he had 20 days to seek an appeal. (51:30-31)

Mr. Ammann filed an appeal (2017AP000255) which was dismissed by the Court of Appeals because the trial court had not yet entered the final judgment of conviction. (45:1-2) The trial court sentenced Mr. Ammann on April 28, 2017, and then stayed the sentence pending the results of this appeal. (40:1-2; 52:1-9) Mr. Ammann then filed this appeal.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### The traffic stop and investigation.

State Trooper Jeffrey Hill testified that he was on duty in an unmarked Wisconsin State Patrol car on Saturday, September 5, 2015. (49:2-3) At around 5:00 p.m., Trooper Hill was in a rural area about eight miles east of Monroe, on Highway 11 near Ullom Road. (Id.) Trooper Hill was heading east towards Monroe on Highway 11, when he "clocked" a vehicle traveling at 74 miles per hour in a 55 miles-per-hour speed zone. (49:3, 6) Trooper Hill turned his

squad around and conducted a traffic stop of the vehicle. (49:8)

Trooper Hill testified he was a state trooper for 31 years and had successfully completed the initial training and numerous refresher courses in determining the possible indications of impairment. (49:12-14) He also testified he was taught using the National Highway Transportation Safety Administration ("NHTSA") manuals and he testified that follows the NHTSA manual exactly. (49:22) Trooper Hill testified that, at the time of the traffic stop, he was up to date on his OWI enforcement training. (Id.)

The weather at the time of the traffic stop was clear and sunny. (See 54) Trooper Hill described it as "a nice day." (49:24) The traffic stop did not occur during bar closing time or near any bars. (Id.) Trooper Hill testified the vehicle pulled over quickly and he did not observe any driving irregularities, vigilance or judgment issues. (49:25-26) Trooper Hill confirmed that exceeding the posted speed limit is not listed as an indicator of impairment in the NHTSA manual. (49:25) Trooper Hill also testified that he did not observe any indicators of impairment up to the point at which he made personal contact with the occupants of the vehicle. (49:24-26)

Trooper Hill approached the vehicle and noticed two people in the vehicle. (49:10) Mr. Amman was in the driver's seat and his wife was in the front passenger seat. (Id.) Trooper Hill made contact at the passenger window and identified himself. (49:11) He told Mr. Ammann that he had been stopped for speeding and asked for his driver's license and registration. (49:11, 30) Trooper Hill asked where they

were going and Mr. Ammann told Trooper Hill they were returning home to let their dogs out. (Id.)

During his traffic investigation, Trooper Hill did <u>not</u> notice any common indicators of impairment such as fumbling fingers, slurred speech, bloodshot eyes, unusual actions or abusive language. (49:27) Mr. Ammann was courteous and cooperative throughout the entire traffic stop. (*See* 53)

While at the passenger window, Trooper Hill did notice an odor of intoxicants. (49:11) He asked the occupants of the vehicle if they had been drinking. (Id.) Mr. Ammann told Trooper Hill that he only had one drink all day. (49:11; 54:17:05:03) Mr. Ammann's wife admitted she had been drinking and had more to drink than he did. (49:11,29) Trooper Hill testified that, given his position at the passenger window, the odor of intoxicant he had noticed was likely coming from Mr. Ammann's wife. (49:29)

Trooper Hill testified that, based on his 31 years of law enforcement experience, consumption of one drink would <u>not</u> impair a person to the degree where it safely affects their driving. (49:28) Trooper Hill also testified that, during his investigative questioning at the passenger window, he had no reason to believe Mr. Ammann was not telling the truth when he told him he only had one drink. (Id.)

After Trooper Hill completed a thorough investigation of the traffic stop while at the passenger window, he told Mr. Ammann:

Well, you are going to get a ticket for your speed. 74 is way too fast. 55 is the limit. You will have a court date, and you can appear and contest it or you will be given an

envelope and you can mail the money in whichever you want to do with that, but you have to watch your speed closer. (49:30-31; 54:17:06:50)

Trooper Hill testified that the traffic investigation was complete at that point and the only thing left to do was to write the speeding ticket. (49:31) Normally, Trooper Hill would have immediately returned to his squad to write the ticket. (Id.) However, in this case, Trooper Hill decided to extend the stop by proceeding to the driver's side window to investigate a possible OWI. (Id.)

Trooper Hill testified there was no reason for him to go the driver's side window or have the driver exit the vehicle related to the traffic stop or speeding violation at that point. (49:32) Trooper Hill testified he extended the stop in order to determine if any odor of intoxicants was coming from the driver and to conduct field sobriety tests (FSTs). (Id.)

During the evidentiary hearing, the Court specifically asked Trooper Hill if there were any other reasons or any evidence that he believed existed, besides the odor of intoxicants likely coming from the passenger and Mr. Ammann admission of consuming one drink, that would have indicated Mr. Ammann might have been operating under the influence. (49:55-56) Trooper Hill replied "No". (49:56) Although Trooper Hill stopped and cited Mr. Amman for speeding, he never testified that he believed, under the circumstances of this particular stop, the speeding was unusual enough to be an indicator of impairment. (*See* 49)

#### The OWI investigation.

Trooper Hill began his OWI investigation by having Mr. Ammann exit his vehicle and stand in front of his squad.

(49:12) Trooper Hill then proceeded to his vehicle to reposition it in order to capture the FSTs on his in-squad video recording system. (49:12, 33) After Trooper Hill repositioned his vehicle, he testified that he returned to Mr. Ammann where he noticed an odor of intoxicants coming from him. (49:12) Trooper Hill again asked him how much he had to drink. Mr. Ammann reconfirmed he had only one drink, but stated it may have been a stiff one or a double. (49:14)

Trooper Hill did <u>not</u> testify that Mr. Amman had any problems with normal walking, normal balance or normal motor coordination. (*See* 49)

The first test administered to Mr. Ammann was the "alphabet test". (49:35-36) Trooper Hill admitted that the "alphabet test" is a non-standardized test. (49:37) Even though Mr. Ammann successfully completed the test the first time, Trooper Hill administered the test a second time, stating "I always ask people to do it twice, if they do it correctly the first time..." (49:15) Although Mr. Ammann did make a mistake on the second iteration of the test, Trooper Hill testified that he had no training on which he could reliably link the results of Mr. Ammann's two alphabet tests to any level of impairment. (49:36)

Trooper Hill testified that he then administered the NHTSA standardized field sobriety tests, i.e. the horizontal gaze nystagmus, the walk and turn and the one leg stand. (49:34) Trooper Hill testified the NHTSA manual provides specific instructions for each test which must be followed or the test is compromised. (49:34-35) Additionally, Trooper Hill testified that all three tests must be performed as a

battery and if any of the test elements is changed, the validity of the test is compromised. (Id.)

Trooper Hill first administered the horizontal gaze nystagmus (HGN) test. (49:15) Trooper Hill testified he observed two clues during smooth pursuit, two clues at maximum deviation and zero clues for the onset of nystagmus prior to 45 degrees for a total of four out of a possible six clues. (49:15, 41) Trooper Hill testified that four clues on the HGN test was an indication that the person is intoxicated. (49:18)

However, Trooper Hill also testified that the results of HGN test can be compromised by optic kinetic nystagmus which is produced by rapidly moving traffic within the subject field of view while the HGN test is being administered. (49:38) Officer Hill testified the NHTSA manual tells officers to have the subject face away from traffic to remove this issue. (49:38-39) Trooper Hill could not recall if he had Mr. Ammann face away from traffic, but believed he was facing directly west. (49:39)

Trooper Hill's in-squad video shows Trooper Hill did not have Mr. Ammann facing away from the traffic. (54:17:10:14) Additionally, the video shows numerous rapidly moving vehicles passing within Mr. Ammann's field of view throughout the period of the test. (54:17:10:14-17:11:50) Thus the validity of the HGN test was compromised.

Furthermore, Trooper Hill testified the smooth pursuit portion of the HGN test requires him to move his pen out from the center of the head in two seconds and back in two seconds for each eye and should take eight seconds. (49:41)

He testified the test must be performed twice (total of 16 seconds) and is to be conducted continuously and smoothly. (49:41, 46)

The in-squad video shows Officer Hill moved his pen far too quickly on the first smooth pursuit test, completing it in four vice eight seconds. (54:17:10:18-17:10:22) On the second smooth pursuit test, Trooper Hill interrupts the test and never completes a smooth and continuous second smooth pursuit test. (54:17:10:22-17:10:36) Since the smooth pursuit test was not administered correctly, the results are compromised.

Trooper Hill then administered the walk and turn (WAT) test. (49:16) Trooper Hill testified that he observed Mr. Ammann miss the heel to toe by more than two inches once, and then counted nine, but took ten steps. (Id.) However, upon reviewing the video, Trooper Hill admitted that during his demonstration of the test, his own counting was not in direct sync with his steps. (49:49)

The in-squad video shows Trooper Hill took a step before beginning his count, and Mr. Ammann counted his steps exactly as Trooper Hill demonstrated. (54:17:12:30-17:13:20) Furthermore, Trooper Hill admitted the in-squad video did not show Mr. Ammann missing any heel to toe steps. (49:49, 54:17:13:02-17:13:20) Finally, although Trooper Hill initially testified he observed two out of possible eight "clues", he failed to provide any testimony linking the observed "clues" to any level of impairment. (49:16)

The final test administered was the one leg stand (OLS) test. (Id.) Trooper Hill did not observe any clues on

the OLS test and admitted Mr. Ammann "did okay on that." (Id.)

Trooper Hill then had Mr. Ammann take a PBT which came back with a reading of 0.068. (Id.) At that point, Trooper Hill decided not arrest Mr. Ammann for any alcohol related offense and only issue a citation for speeding. (49:17) In the process of preparing the speeding citation in his squad, Trooper Hill discovered Mr. Ammann was subject to a 0.02 alcohol concentration restriction due to prior offenses. (49:20) Trooper Hill subsequently arrested Mr. Ammann for operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration. (49:20-21)

#### The evidentiary hearing.

An evidentiary hearing was held on April 21, 2016. After the hearing, both sides submitted post-hearing briefs to the circuit court. The trial court denied Mr. Ammann's suppression motion via an oral ruling on May 25, 2016. (50:9)

This appeal follows.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. Introduction.

Trooper Hill's testimony and in-squad video showed that there was probable cause to pull Mr. Ammann over for driving over the speed limit, which is prohibited by law. Thus, the seizure was valid at its inception. However, the scope of the seizure was unconstitutional. The State failed to prove that reasonable suspicion existed to justify extending the traffic stop and conducting a separate OWI investigation.

Here, there were insufficient facts to lead a reasonable police officer to believe that Mr. Ammann had consumed a sufficient amount of alcohol to cause him to be less able to exercise the clear judgment and steady hand necessary to handle and control a motor vehicle. *State v. Resch*, 2011 WI App 75, ¶ 16, 334 Wis. 2d 147, 799 N.W.2d 929. Therefore, all of the evidence obtained by Trooper Hill after he repositioned his squad to capture the FSTs should have been suppressed.

Had the trial court properly granted suppression, Mr. Ammann would not have entered a plea to the charge. As such, Mr. Ammann respectfully asks this Court to reverse the trial court and remand with directions to suppress the evidence and allow Mr. Amman to withdraw his plea.

#### II. Standard of Review

The right to be secure against unreasonable seizures is protected by the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 1, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution. The question of whether police conduct

violated the Fourth Amendment is a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Griffith*, 2000 WI 72, ¶ 23, 236 Wis. 2d 48, 613 N.W.2d 72.

A question of constitutional fact is reviewed under a two-step standard of review. *State v. Hajicek*, 2001 WI 3, ¶ 15, 240 Wis. 2d 349, 620 N.W.2d 781. The trial court's findings of historical fact are reviewed under the clearly-erroneous standard, while the court's determination of constitutional facts are reviewed de novo. Id.

- III. There was no reasonable suspicion to extend the traffic stop and detain Mr. Ammann for field sobriety tests.
  - A. Trooper Hill measurably extended the original traffic stop when he had Mr. Ammann exit his vehicle and then repositioned his own cruiser to capture in-squad video of the FSTs.

Our United States Supreme Court has repeatedly emphasized that a traffic stop becomes unconstitutional when it is measurably extended by investigation into an unrelated offense without reasonable suspicion:

We hold that a police stop exceeding the time needed to handle the matter for which the stop was made violates the Constitution's shield against unreasonable seizures. A seizure justified only by a police-observed traffic violation, therefore, "become[s] unlawful if it is prolonged beyond the time reasonably required to complete th[e] mission" of issuing a ticket for the violation. *Id.*, at 407, 125 S.Ct. 834.

*Rodriguez v. United States*, 135 S. Ct. 1609, 1612, 191 L. Ed. 2d 492 (2015).

A lawful roadside stop begins when a vehicle is pulled over for investigation of a traffic violation. The temporary seizure of driver and passengers ordinarily continues, and remains reasonable, for the duration of the stop. Normally, the stop ends when the police have no further need to control the scene, and inform the driver and passengers they are free to leave. See *Brendlin*, 551 U.S., at 258, 127 S.Ct. 2400. An officer's inquiries into matters unrelated to the justification for the traffic stop, this Court has made plain, do not convert the encounter into something other than a lawful seizure, so long as those inquiries do not measurably extend the duration of the stop.

*Arizona v. Johnson*, 555 U.S. 323, 333, 129 S. Ct. 781, 788, 172 L. Ed. 2d 694 (2009)(emphasis added).

An officer, in other words, may conduct certain unrelated checks during an otherwise lawful traffic stop. But contrary to Justice ALITO's suggestion, *post*, at 1625, n. 2, he may not do so in a way that prolongs the stop, absent the reasonable suspicion ordinarily demanded to justify detaining an individual.

*Rodriguez v. United States*, 135 S. Ct. 1609, 1614–15, 191 L. Ed. 2d 492 (2015).

The scope of the traffic stop and detention must be carefully tailored to its underlying justification. *Rodriguez* at 1614. Because addressing the infraction is the purpose of the stop, it may last no longer than is necessary to effectuate that purpose. *Id.* Authority for the seizure thus ends when tasks tied to the traffic infraction are—or reasonably should have been—completed. *Id.* In determining the reasonable duration of a stop, it is appropriate to examine whether the police diligently pursued the investigation. *Id.* Thus, in this case, the relevant question becomes, did Officer Hill act diligently in pursuing the underlying traffic stop, or did his actions related to the OWI investigation "measurably extend" the duration of the stop?

In this case, Trooper Hill extended the original traffic stop into a separate and distinct OWI investigation when he had Mr. Ammann exit his vehicle and then repositioned his own cruiser to capture in-squad video of the FSTs. These actions measurably extended the original traffic stop. There was no need to have Mr. Ammann exit his vehicle or for Trooper Hill to reposition his vehicle related to any part of the original traffic stop for speeding. Trooper Hill admitted the only reason he approached the driver side of the vehicle, asked Defendant to exit the vehicle, and repositioned his squad was to conduct field sobriety testing and continue his OWI investigation.

# B. Trooper Hill did not have a reasonable suspicion Mr. Ammann was operating while intoxicated at the point where he extended the original traffic stop.

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