RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 10-23-2017 COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV CLERK OF CO

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2017 AP 000866-CR Green County Circuit Court Case 2015 CT 000137

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

BRADLY E. AMMANN,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING SUPPRESSION AND A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE GREEN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE THOMAS J. VALE PRESIDING.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Laura M. Kohl Assistant District Attorney Green County, Wisconsin Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent State Bar No. 1053447

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED AMMANN'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS WHEN THE TROOPER PROPERLY EXTENDED THE STOP TO INVESTIGATE ADDITIONAL SUSPICIOUS FACTORS INDICATING POSSIBLE IMPAIRED DRIVING.

During a traffic offense stop the driver may be asked questions reasonably related to the nature of the stop, including his or her destination and purpose. State v. Betow, 226 Wis.2d 90, 93, 593 N.W.2d 499 (Ct. App. 1999). The police may order the driver to exit the vehicle (without any specific reason) without violating the Fourth Amendment once a vehicle has been lawfully stopped for a traffic violation. State v. Johnson, 2007 WI 32, ¶ 23, 299 Wis.2d 675, 692, 729 N.W.2d 182; State v. Richardson, 156 Wis.2d 128, 143, 456 N.W.2d 830 (1990); Arizona v. Johnson, 555 U.S. 323, 331, 129 S.Ct. 781, 786 (2009); Brendlin v. California, 551 U.S. 249, 258, 127 S.Ct. 2400, 2407 (2007); United States v. Tinnie, 629 F.3d 749, 751 (7th Cir. 2011).

An officer may extend a traffic stop for further investigation if, during the stop, the officer becomes aware of additional suspicious circumstances that give rise to a reasonable suspicion that the driver has committed or is committing an offense distinct from that prompting the initial stop. The validity of the extension is tested in the

same manner and under the same criteria as the initial stop. State v. Bons, 2007 WI App 124, at ¶ 13, 301 Wis.2d 227, 731 N.W.2d 367, Betow, 226 Wis.2d 94-95, 98. "Under the Fourth Amendment, we have held, a policeman who lacks probable cause but whose "observations lead him reasonably to suspect" that a particular person has committed, is committing, or is about to commit a crime, may detain that person briefly in order to "investigate the circumstances that provoke suspicion." United States v. Brignoni-Ponce, 422 U.S. 873, 881, 95 S.Ct. 2574, 45 L.Ed.2d 607(1975).

The issue is the reasonableness of the police actions—the reasonableness of the continuation — extension of the seizure of the defendant that was lawful at its inception. State $v.\ Arias$, 2008 WI 84, at ¶¶ 45, 47, 311 Wis.2d 358, at 387-89, 752 N.W. 2d 748.

The required level of information/evidence needed to request field sobriety tests is reasonable suspicion, not probable cause. See *County of Dane v. Campshure*, 204 Wis.2d 27, at 34, 552 N.W.2d 876 (Ct. App. 1996). It is a totality of the circumstances test. *State v. Waldner*, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 58, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996).

Reasonable suspicion can be formed from "a series of acts, each of which are innocent in themselves." $State\ v.$

Young, 212 Wis. 2d 417, 430, 569 N.W.2d 84 (Ct. App. 1997).

Also, State v. Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996).

The existence of alternative innocent explanations do not invalidate reasonable suspicion:

Suspicious conduct by its very nature is ambiguous, and the principal function of the investigative stop is to quickly resolve that ambiguity. Thus, when a police officer observes lawful but suspicious conduct, if a reasonable inference of unlawful conduct can be objectively discerned, notwithstanding the existence of other innocent inferences that could be drawn, police officers have the right to temporarily detain the individual for the purpose of inquiry. Police officers are not required to rule out the possibility of innocent behavior[.]

Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d at 60 (citation omitted).

The Supreme Court has made clear that it is the court's judgment of the objective value of the facts, rather than the officer's subjective assessment, which is relevant to the determination of whether the intrusion is reasonable:

[I]n justifying the particular intrusion the police officer must be able to point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant that intrusion. The scheme of the Fourth Amendment becomes meaningful only when it is assured that at some point the conduct of those charged with enforcing the laws can be subjected to the more detached, neutral scrutiny of a judge who must evaluate the reasonableness of a particular search or seizure in light of the particular circumstances. And in making that assessment it is imperative that the facts be judged against an objective standard: would the facts available to the officer at the moment of the seizure or the search "warrant a man of reasonable caution in the belief" that the action taken was appropriate?

Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 21-22, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968).

A "moderate to strong odor of intoxicants" and bloodshot and glassy eyes, where no driving behavior was observed and the defendant admitted drinking an hour before, has been found to be sufficient. *Dane County v. Judd*, 2012 Wi App 97, 344 Wis.2d 125, 820 N.W.2d 156.

There was reasonable suspicion to justify administering field sobriety tests when there was a strong odor of intoxicants coming from a vehicle parked late at night in a business parking lot exit with the lights off, in which defendant was driver and sole occupant, and defendant admitted to drinking "a little." State v. Resch, 2001 WI App 75, ¶¶17-18, 334 Wis. 2d 147, 799 N.W. 2d 929.

In an unpublished case, cited for persuasive value, the District III Court of Appeals found reasonable suspicion for field sobriety tests under very similar facts to these:

We conclude that, even before Nechodom requested
Fellinger to recite the alphabet and count backward,
Nechodom had reasonable suspicion to believe that
Fellinger was operating while intoxicated. Although
Nechodom did not observe glassy eyes or slurred speech
before requesting Fellinger perform field sobriety
tests, there is no requirement that officers make
these observations before requesting field sobriety
tests. Instead, the speeding, which showed Fellinger's
nonconformance with the law, combined with the odor of
intoxicants, the admission of drinking, and the time
of night, 1:50 a.m., around "bar time," amounts to

reasonable suspicion that Fellinger was operating his vehicle while intoxicated.

Town of Freedom v. Fellinger, 2013 WI App 115, ¶24, 350 Wis. 2d 507, 838 N.W.2d 137, unpublished, No.2013AP614 (August 6, 2013).

In another unpublished case just decided September 26, 2017, cited for persuasive value, the District I Court of Appeals held that when a driver was stopped at 2:20 a.m. for travelling approximately 65 miles per hour in an area with a speed limit of fifty miles per hour, the deputy smelled the odor of alcoholic beverage from the vehicle, and the driver admitted she had consumed alcohol before dinner at about nine or nine-thirty, the deputy properly requested that the driver perform field sobriety tests. State v. Wallk, No. 2017AP61,

Wallk misunderstands the limited demands of reasonable suspicion. As noted above, where specific articulable facts give rise to suspicion, an officer has the right to investigate "notwithstanding the existence of other innocent inferences that could be drawn." That is the case here. The odor of intoxicants and the admission from the driver of drinking earlier in the evening was "information [discovered] subsequent to the initial

stop[.]" This information, "[c]ombined with information already acquired"—namely, the fact that the driver was speeding at 2:22 a.m.—created "a reasonable inference of unlawful conduct [that] can be objectively discerned." See id. Therefore reasonable suspicion existed to continue the detention of Wallk for field sobriety tests.

State v. Wallk, No. 2017AP61, ¶16 (WI App. September 26, 2017)

In another unpublished case, cited for persuasive value, the District II Court of Appeals also found sufficient basis under similar circumstances:

We disagree with Valenti's assertion that the odor of intoxicants was the only fact supporting Hlinak's suspicion that Valenti was under the influence. Valenti was speeding—going 17 mph over the posted speed limit—and driving in a manner that Hlinak considered unsafe when Valenti passed the farm vehicle. Both observations, one illegal and one unsafe, demonstrate suspicion of impaired judgment on Valenti's part, sufficient to warrant further investigation by Hlinak when combined with the odor of intoxicants. Cf. Post, 301 Wis.2d 1, ¶ 24, 733 N.W.2d 634 ("We therefore determine that a

driver's actions need not be erratic, unsafe, or illegal to give rise to reasonable suspicion."); County of Sauk v. Leon, No.2010AP1593, unpublished slip op. ¶ 20 (WI App Nov. 24, 2010) (suggesting that speeding at bar time may support reasonable suspicion). We conclude that the odor of intoxicants, unsafe driving, and speeding create reasonable suspicion under the totality of the circumstances that Valenti was under the influence. See Town of Grand Chute v. Thomas, No.2011AP2702, unpublished slip op. ¶ 9 (WI App May 30, 2012) (finding reasonable suspicion where defendant was speeding, weaving within his lane, and the officer smelled an odor of intoxicants). Hlinak properly extended the traffic stop to investigate further and administer field sobriety and breathalyzer tests.

State v. Valenti, 2016 WI App 80, ¶ 10, 372 Wis. 2d 186, 888
N.W.2d 23, unpublished, No. 2016AP662 (September 7, 2016).

In each of these three unpublished cases, the driver is stopped for speeding, and an odor of intoxicants is detected. In two cases there is an admission of drinking, and the time of night is around 'bar time,' and these factors are found to be sufficient to extend the stop to investigate further. In the third case there is no admission of drinking, and it is

not 'bar time,' but the officer observed some unsafe but not illegal passing of a farm vehicle.

In the case before the court, Ammann was stopped for speeding, an odor of intoxicants is detected, there is an admission of drinking, and although it is not 'bar time,' Ammann admitted that he was coming from a wedding reception. This is all information that the trooper had before even asking Ammann to exit the vehicle. These are all appropriate considerations in the totality of the circumstances, which the trooper observed and articulated to the trial court, and upon which the trial court could properly base its ruling. As in the cases cited, they are sufficient to support the trooper's attempts at additional investigation.

The issue before this Court is the trial court's decision denying Ammann's motion to suppress. The court made findings of fact in its original oral ruling and again at the motion for reconsideration. These findings of fact are not clearly erroneous.

Ammann was properly stopped for speeding. Common sense, the courts above, and the trial court all found the speeding may be considered in the totality of the circumstances analysis of whether the trooper could extend the stop. The trooper's failure to cite it on cross

examination or what defense counsel 'presumes' about what NHTSA studies might show is irrelevant. (Defense brief at 16).

The trial court heard testimony that Ammann stated he was coming from a wedding and that both he and his passenger had been drinking, although Ammann initially stated he only had one drink and his passenger had more. The trooper could initially detect the odor of intoxicants coming from the vehicle, but could not determine whether any of it was coming from the driver.

Each step the trooper took was a reasonable extension of the stop to further investigate. Before any complained of behavior occurred at all, the unpublished cases support requesting field sobriety tests, but the trooper first gets Ammann out to ensure the odor is coming from him. It was reasonable for the trooper to further investigate whether the odor was coming from Ammann, and he asked him out of the vehicle in order to do so.

It was then reasonable for the trooper to inquire further, at which point Ammann's estimate of his alcohol consumption became a bit higher. It was reasonable for the trooper to engage in additional field testing to see if Ammann's alcohol consumption was at a level where he was

impaired and his continuing on his way might be dangerous to the public.

II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERRONEOUSLY EXERCISE ITS DISCRETION IN MAKING ITS RULING REGARDING THE REQUEST THAT AMMANN SUBMIT TO A PRELIMINARY BREATH TEST, AND THERE IS NO MEANINGFUL REMEDY.

After extensive discussion of the trooper's reasonable suspicion to extend the stop, the trial court does state:

To continue that investigation you need reasonable suspicion again, articulable facts, totality of the circumstances. We have got a speeding violation, an admission of drinking, odor of intoxicants, and then asking for the field sobriety test I think at that point the officer did have reason to continue that stop, and because of the clues that were given during the field sobriety test I think that gave him reasonable suspicion that he could then ask for the PBT. PBT by itself was under the limit, but then again he discovered the lower standard because of the prior convictions.

I think under these circumstances every case is different factually here when we get into these issues

that he was justified in extending that stop and investigation.

(R.50:9.)

The trial court is in the midst of ruling about the reasons that provided the trooper with reasonable suspicion to extend the traffic stop. This was a simple misstatement in the midst of the ruling on the germane issue. The trial court had consistently and clearly been briefed on the standard for administration of a preliminary breath test by both parties and there was no dispute on the issue.

(R.14:5;16:5.)

There appears to be no purpose to this portion of the motion and no clear meaningful remedy.

"...when the driver is known to be subject to a .02 PAC standard, the officer knows it would take very little alcohol for the driver to exceed that limit, and the officer smells alcohol on the driver. We now hold that under these circumstances, there is probable cause to request a PBT breath sample." State v. Goss, 2011 WI 104, ¶2, 338 Wis.2d 72, 75-76, 806 N.W.2d 918, 920.

Frankly, the admission of the preliminary breath test did nothing but help Ammann, and for a short time, delay his arrest. If the continuation of the traffic stop for

further investigation was appropriate, which the trial court found that it was, and if the trooper was going to run Ammann's driving record no matter what, which the testimony universally supports and which the trial court also found, this preliminary breath test result is almost entirely irrelevant.

The trooper observed Ammann driving, and speeding, and had an admission of drinking from Ammann, and smelled the odor of intoxicants in the vehicle prior to any behavior remotely complained of by Ammann. The trooper ran his driving record and determined he had three prior offenses and was a .02 standard applied to him. That, in and of itself, supports an arrest for operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration. Additionally, the trooper had all of his observations on the field sobriety tests. Despite the Defense Attorney's attempts to attack the standardized field sobriety tests, the trooper did not agree, and the court did not find, that they were compromised or could not be considered. (R.49:45-49,50:9.)If the trooper had given no pbt at all, there would have been sufficient basis and Ammann would have been arrested for OWI.

Even if the trial court erroneously believed that the standard for administration of the pbt was simple

reasonable suspicion, and even if the trooper did not have probable cause to believe that he was impaired in order to administer the pbt, and even if the pbt result was suppressed, the trooper still clearly had a basis to arrest Ammann for operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration, likely without even Ammann's performance on standardized field sobriety tests, given that the purpose of the standardized field sobriety tests is to assist officers in determining if drivers are impaired and would not be expected to provide much information regarding individuals with alcohol levels in the .02-.04 range. The pbt result cannot be used at trial. Any possible error would be entirely harmless, as nothing supporting the State relies upon the pbt result.

CONCLUSION

Based on the above analysis, this court should uphold the trial court's denial of Ammann's motion.